IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

LUIS DONICIO VALENZUELA,

Defendant and Appellant.

S239122

Ct. App. 2/6 B269027

Ventura County Super. Ct. No. 2013025724

> SUPREME COURT FILED

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

APR - 5 2017

Jorge Navarrete Clark

Deputy

CRC 8.25(b)

Stephen P. Lipson, Public Defender Michael C. McMahon (SBN 71909) Chief Deputy Public Defender State Bar Certified Specialist - Criminal Law and Appellate Law (805) 477 7114 William Quest (SBN 191461) Senior Deputy Public Defender (805) 654 3032 800 South Victoria Ave. Ventura, CA 93009 writsandappeals@ventura.org Attorneys for appellant LUIS VALENZUELA

Issue Presented

Does the reclassification of a felony conviction to a misdemeanor for all purposes pursuant to Proposition 47 preclude the use of that misdemeanor to satisfy the felony offense element of the crime of street terrorism?

Facts and Procedural History

In this case, appellant Luis Valenzuela stole a \$200 bicycle from the person of the victim, Manuel Ramirez, and was convicted after trial of grand theft. (Count 1: Penal Code § 487, subd. (c).)¹² In addition, an enhancement of having committed that crime for the benefit of a gang

¹ All further statutory references are to the Penal Code unless otherwise specified.

² Hereinafter for ease of reading, and brevity, 487(c).

was found true. (§ 186.22, subd. (b)(1).)³ Valenzuela was also convicted of street terrorism in count two. (§ 186.22, subd. (a).)⁴ The felony offense element for the street terrorism count was the grand theft conviction in count one. Valenzuela was sentenced to an aggregate term of nine years and eight months in prison. (*People v. Valenzuela* (2016) 55 Cal.App.5th 449, 451-452, review granted March 1, 2017.) (hereinafter, *Valenzuela* or opinion.)

After the passage of Proposition 47 (Safe Neighborhoods and Schools Act, hereinafter the Act), Valenzuela filed a petition requesting to be resentenced based on the new statutory terms set forth in Proposition 47. The trial court granted his request and reclassified count one a misdemeanor given that the value of the bicycle was less than \$950. The trial court also declined to impose the section 186.22(b) gang enhancement attached to count one once the grand theft was reduced to a misdemeanor. However, the trial court eventually denied Valenzuela's motion to dismiss the street terrorism count, finding that the reclassification of his theft conviction to a misdemeanor did not undermine the street terrorism conviction. (*Ibid.*) Valenzuela was then resentenced on count two to seven years and eight months.⁵

Valenzuela filed a timely appeal. On November 14, 2016, the Court of Appeal issued an opinion certified for publication. The opinion concluded that there was no error in sentencing Valenzuela to the street terrorism count despite the reduction of the grand theft to a misdemeanor. The opinion relied on two theories. First, the opinion held that section 186.22(a)

³ Hereinafter for ease of reading, and brevity, 186.22(b).

⁴ Hereinafter for ease of reading, and brevity, 186.22(a).

⁵ The trial court reached seven years and eight months by imposing 32 months on count two – low term doubled because of a prior strike enhancement – plus five years for the section 667, subdivision (a), enhancement.

only requires the commission of felonious conduct rather than the conviction of a felony offense.

According to the opinion, that distinction led to this conclusion: "[b]ecause the focus is on the commission rather than the conviction of a felony, it is irrelevant that Valenzuela's theft conviction 'shall [now] be considered a misdemeanor for all purposes." (*Id.* at p. 452.)

Valenzuela filed a timely Petition for Review, and on March 1, 2017, this Court granted review.

Memorandum of Points and Authorities

I.

The reduction of the grand theft conviction to a misdemeanor prevented the court from thereafter relying on that conviction to satisfy the felony offense element for the street terrorism count.

The *Valenzuela* opinion concluded that the reduction of the theft conviction to a misdemeanor did not preclude the court from imposing a felony sentence on the street terrorism count. The court reasoned, in part, that the crime of street terrorism required only felonious conduct, not a felony conviction. That distinction, according to the court, distinguished this case from sentence enhancements which require a felony conviction. "The gravamen of the [street terrorism offense] is active participation in a criminal street gang. (*People v. Albillar* (2010) 51 Cal.4th 47, 55 (citations omitted).) To that end, it requires participation in the 'felonious criminal conduct' of at least one other gang member. (§ 186.22, subd. (a); *People v. Rodriguez* (2012) 55 Cal.4th 1125, 1134 (citations omitted).) It does not require that anyone sustain a conviction for that conduct. Because the focus is on the commission rather than the conviction of a felony, it is irrelevant that Valenzuela's theft conviction 'shall [now] be considered a

misdemeanor for all purposes.' (§ 1170.18, subd. (k).)" (Id. at p. 452.)

The opinion's reliance on the distinction between felonious conduct and a felony conviction with respect to the necessary elements for a section 186.22(a) conviction is a distinction without meaning. The third element for an authorized sentence for section 186.22(a) requires that a defendant "willfully assisted, furthered, or promoted felonious criminal conduct by members of a gang either by: (a) directly and actively committing a felony offense; or (b) aiding and abetting a felony offense." (CALCRIM No. 1400, element No. 3, § 186.22, subd. (a).)⁶ There has to be a finding beyond a reasonable doubt that defendant either committed or aided in the commission of a felony offense. (*Ibid.*) In addition to the statewide jury instructions, the Fifth Amendment's due process clause requires proof beyond a reasonable doubt of each element of a substantive offense. (*Sullivan v. Louisiana* (1993) 508 U.S. 275, 277-288.)

Further, this Court has always held that the third element in section 186.22(a) is satisfied only by the finding beyond a reasonable doubt that a defendant committed a felony offense, not simply some abstract and vague criminal conduct that now constitutes a misdemeanor offense. In *People v. Rodriguez, supra,* 55 Cal.4th 1125, this Court addressed whether

⁶ CALCRIM No. 1400 provides that to prove the defendant is guilty of this crime [violation of Penal Code section186.22(a)], the People must prove:

^{1.} The defendant actively participated in a criminal street gang;

^{2.} When the defendant participated in the gang, [he] knew that members of the gang engage in or have engaged in a pattern of criminal gang activity; and

^{3.} The defendant willfully assisted, furthered, or promoted felonious criminal conduct by members of the gang by: (a) directly and actively committing a felony offense; or (b) aiding and abetting a felony offense.

At least two gang members of that same gang must have participated in committing the felony offense. The defendant may count as one of those members if you find that the defendant was a member of the gang.

a gang member who commits a felony alone violates section 186.22(a). This Court reached its decision by interpreting the third element in section 186.22(a), specifically, the meaning of the phrase "who willfully promotes, furthers, or assists in any felonious criminal conduct by members of that gang, shall be punished" (*Id.* at p. 1128.)

This Court concluded that constitutional due process concerns and the express statutory language of section 186.22(a) require that at least two gang members must have participated in committing the felony offense. "As such, with section 186.22(a), the Legislature sought to punish gang members who acted in concert with other gang members in committing a *felony* regardless of whether such felony was gang related." (*Id.* at p. 1138, italics added.) In other words, section 186.22(a) requires two or more gang members to commit a felony offense.

In the case at bar, the jury found Valenzuela guilty of grand theft, a felony, in count one. The jury then relied on count one to find that he had committed a felony offense, an essential element in count two. Although the term "conviction" has no fixed definition, it is commonly interpreted by courts that a factual finding of guilt by a jury constitutes a conviction. The ordinary legal meaning of "conviction" is a verdict of guilty or the confession of the defendant in open court, and not the sentence or judgment. (*People v. Banks* (1959) 53 Cal.2d 370, 390-391; *People v. Ward* (1901) 134 Cal. 301, 307-308, *Ex parte Brown* (1885) 68 Cal. 176, 179, 183; *In re Anderson* (1939) 34 Cal.App.2d 48, 50-51.) Indeed, it is settled that for purposes of a prior conviction statute, a conviction occurs at the time of entry of the guilty plea. (*People v. Balderas* (1985) 41 Cal.3d 144, 203; *Stephens v. Toomey* (1959) 51 Cal.2d 864, 869; *People v. Milosavljevic* (1997) 56 Cal.App.4th 811, 817.) "[W]hen guilt is established, either by plea or verdict, the defendant stands convicted and

thereafter has a prior conviction." (*People v. Williams* (1996) 49 Cal.App.4th 1632, 1638.)

Consequently, contrary to the reasoning in the opinion, the requirement that there must be a finding of guilt that a defendant had either committed or aided in the commission of a felony offense for a lawful section 186.22(a) sentence means, in effect, that a defendant must have sustained a conviction for that felony offense. The opinion is wrong to conclude otherwise.

Assuming, arguendo, that the commission of a felony offense is distinguishable from a felony conviction, the reclassified misdemeanor theft conviction still did not qualify as felonious criminal conduct according to this Court's decision in *People v. Lamas* (2007) 42 Cal.4th 516. In *Lamas*, this Court addressed the issue of whether a gang member who carries a loaded firearm in violation of section 12031, subdivision (a)(1), satisfies the felonious conduct requirement in section 186.22(a) in order to elevate an otherwise misdemeanor to a felony. If the answer was yes, then the gang member would be in violation of section 12031, subdivision (a)(2)(c), a felony.

This Court held that the answer was no. That is, carrying a loaded firearm was misdemeanor conduct and the fact that it was done by a gang member does not by itself constitute felonious criminal conduct in violation of section 186.22(a). (*Id.* at p. 524.) This Court held that both misdemeanor convictions and misdemeanor conduct do not constitute felonious criminal conduct. (*Ibid.*; see also *People v. Albillar, supra,* 51 Cal.4th at p. 55 ["The plain language of the statute thus targets felonious criminal conduct. . . ."].)

The statutory interpretation that "felonious criminal conduct" requires the commission of a felony offense has been the settled law since at least 1991 when a Court of Appeal decision unequivocally held that the

phrase "felonious criminal conduct" has to equate to the commission of an offense amounting to a felony.

"If, however, it [felonious criminal conduct] contemplates something less than the commission of an offense amounting to a felony, it makes criminal the promotion, furtherance or assistance of conduct which is not itself criminal. Such a construction would impinge on protected conduct. Where a provision is of doubtful validity we must, if possible, impose on it a construction which eliminates doubts as to its constitutionality. (Citations omitted.) We therefore construe the provision to cover only conduct which is clearly felonious, i.e., conduct which amounts to the commission of an offense punishable by imprisonment in state prison." (*People v. Green* (1991) 227 Cal.App.3d 692, 704.)

In sum, once the theft conviction in count one was reduced to a misdemeanor pursuant to Proposition 47, Valenzuela had no longer committed a felony offense. The trial court was thereafter precluded from using the misdemeanor theft conduct to satisfy the third element requirement in section 186.22(a).

II.

The opinion erred by failing to take Valenzuela back to the time of the original sentence and resentence him with the Proposition 47 count, now a misdemeanor.

The opinion claimed that the trial court "did treat the resentencing as a plenary sentencing" and properly resentenced Valenzuela to a misdemeanor for the theft conviction in count one. (*Valenzuela, supra,* 5 Cal.App.5th at p. 452.) The opinion, however, then reasons that the reduction of the theft conviction has no bearing on the 186.22(a) offense because when Valenzuela engaged in the theft it was felonious criminal

conduct and the subsequent change in the law is irrelevant. (*Id.* at p. 453.) That conclusion is in error and is based on faulty logic.

First, as discussed *ante*, the felonious criminal conduct element in section 186.22(a) requires the commission of a felony offense, which was not met here once count one was reduced to a misdemeanor.

Additionally, the purpose of a Proposition 47 resentencing is to take the defendant back to the original sentencing and sentence the defendant with the Proposition 47 count now a misdemeanor. Section 1170.18, subdivision (a), provides in pertinent part: "[a] person currently serving a sentence for a conviction . . . of a felony or felonies who would have been guilty of a misdemeanor under the act that added this section . . . had this act been in effect *at the time of the offense* may petition for a recall of the sentence" (Italics added.)

The plain language of section 1170.18, subdivision (a), and the purpose of the Act, requires the court at a resentencing to take the defendant back to the time of the original sentence and resentence him with a Proposition 47 count as a misdemeanor. The court's role "is to ascertain the Legislature's [Electorate's] intent so as to effectuate the purpose of the law. [The court's] first task is to examine the language of the statute enacted as an initiative, giving the words their usual, ordinary meaning. . . . If the language is clear and unambiguous, [the court] follow[s] the plain meaning of the measure . . . [T]he 'plain meaning' rule does not prohibit a court from determining whether the literal meaning of a measure comports with its purpose or whether such a construction of one provision is consistent with other provisions of the statute." [quotation marks omitted.] (People v. Canty (2004) 32 Cal.App.4th 1266, 1276 (quoting Curle v. Superior Court (2001) 24 Cal.4th 1057, 1063.)

In this case, section 1170.18, subdivision (a), entitles Valenzuela to be resentenced on his felony counts that would have been

misdemeanors had the Act been in effect at the time of the offense. The Act explicitly provides for retroactive relief for people either currently serving a sentence or for those who have completed a sentence. At Valenzuela's resentencing, the court must resentence him to those counts affected by the Act as if they were a misdemeanor "at the time of the offense." (§ 1170.18, subd. (a).) Once count one was reduced to a misdemeanor, the trial court could no longer treat that conduct as felonious. The opinion erred by using the conduct of count one as a felony for the sole purpose of sentencing Valenzuela to a felony term on count two.

A recent appellate decision concurred with Valenzuela's interpretation of a resentencing pursuant to section 1170.18, subdivision (a). In *People v. Rouse* (2016) 245 Cal.App.4th 292, the court explained its position on a resentencing. "In our view, a resentencing hearing on a petition under section 1170.18, subdivision (a), . . . envisions, at least where multiple counts are at issue, as is the case here, that resentencing will occur anew . . . 'The purpose of section 1170.18 is to take the defendant back to the time of the original sentence and resentence him with the Proposition 47 count now a misdemeanor.'" (*Id.*, at pp. 299-300; see also Couzens & Bigelow, *Proposition 47: The Safe Neighborhoods and Schools Act*, (Barrister Press, May 16, 2016), at p. 62.) [As of March 27, 2017.]

The opinion's glaring error is evident in the statement, "[w]hen Valenzuela stole the bicycle, he engaged in felonious criminal conduct." (*Valenzuela, supra,* 5 Cal.App.5th at p. 453.) Not true. After Proposition 47, when Valenzuela stole the bicycle of a value less than \$950, he engaged in *misdemeanor* conduct and committed a misdemeanor offense. Moreover, the only issue at the resentencing for count two was whether he committed a felony offense. After count one was reduced to a misdemeanor, he did not. Thus, Valenzuela cannot be sentenced to a felony sentence on count two solely because at the time of the offense, the

conduct could be charged as a felony. "Proposition 47 precludes the court from using that conviction as a felony merely because it was a felony at the time the defendant committed the offense." (*People v. Abdallah* (2016) 246 Cal.App.4th 736, 747 (*Abdallah*).)

The opinion erred by conflating prospective application of Proposition 47 with retroactive application. At the resentencing on count two, count one was a misdemeanor. Therefore, any subsequent use of the now misdemeanor would be prospective application only.

A recent case that explained this distinction with respect to Proposition 47 and prison priors is *People v. Kindall* (2016) 6 Cal.App.5th 1199 (*Kindall*). Kindall was convicted of felony battery causing serious bodily injury. Attached to the felony battery were seven prison priors. Prior to the court trial on the prison priors, three of the prison priors were reclassified to misdemeanors pursuant to Proposition 47. At sentencing, the trial court imposed the reclassified misdemeanors as prison priors. In reversing the imposition of the prison priors, the appellate court stated:

"Here, at the time the trial court was called upon (in the court trial on the priors) to find the elements of the enhancement, it could no longer properly find that defendant has sustained the prior felony convictions alleged. Instead, the three reduced felonies were misdemeanors for all purposes. Simply put, at the time of the charged priors' adjudication, defendant had sustained misdemeanor convictions for the three drug charges at issue rather than felonies. There was no need to 'look back' and read any retrospective effect into the Proposition 47 reductions" (*Id.* at p. 1204.)

Likewise, at the time of the resentencing on count two,

Valenzuela had sustained a misdemeanor theft conviction on count one.

There was no need to look back and apply any retrospective effect into the

Proposition 47 reduction.

Another appellate case has determined that as long as the Proposition 47 reduction takes place prior to the sentencing, the sentencing court is precluded from using that reduction thereafter as a felony. In *People v. Call* (March 14, 2017) __Cal.App.5th __, 2017 Cal.App. LEXIS 229 (*Call*), the prison prior convictions had been reduced to a misdemeanor prior to sentencing but after adjudication. The court held as long as the reductions were granted prior to sentencing, they could not thereafter be used as a prison prior enhancement. "Because the underlying convictions were reduced prior to sentencing on defendant's current offenses, however, the requisite prior felony conviction no longer existed at the time of sentencing, and so imposition of the enhancements was error." (*Id.* LEXIS at p. 9.)

In the same manner that a Proposition 47 reduction removed an essential element for a prison prior enhancement, the reduction in count one removed an essential element for section 186.22(a), i.e., that Valenzuela had committed a felony offense.

Valenzuela contends that a Proposition 47 resentencing is very similar, if not identical, to the factual scenario where the underlying felony offense on a 186.22(a) conviction is reversed on appeal. (*People v. Sifuentes* (2011) 195 Cal.App.4th 1410.) In *Sifuentes*, a jury found defendant guilty of possession of a firearm by a felon with a gang enhancement. In addition, defendant Sifuentes was found guilty of the substantive felony gang count pursuant to section 186.22(a) based on the commission of the firearm possession offense. On appeal, his felony firearm conviction was reversed for insufficient evidence. Accordingly, the court then reversed both the gang enhancement attached to the firearm offense and the section 186.22(a) count:

"Because the gang enhancement under section 186.22, subdivision (b), attached solely to the gun possession charge, we must reverse [the enhancement]. And we must also reverse [the 186.22(a) conviction] for active gang participation, which requires proof, among other elements, that the person 'willfully promoted, furthered or assisted in any felonious criminal conduct by members of the gang.' [Citation.] To prove this element, the prosecutor relied on [Defendant's] alleged [felony] firearm possession. Consequently, reversal of Sifuentes's gun possession conviction also requires reversal of [the] active gang participation conviction." (Sifuentes, supra, at pp. 1419-1420.) (Emphasis added.)

In the same manner that a reversal on appeal of the underlying felony count requires a dismissal of the street terrorism conviction, the reduction of the underlying felony to a misdemeanor requires the same result. Thus, consistent with the language and purpose of the Act, a theft of a \$200 bicycle cannot be used to satisfy the third element of section 186.22(a). Further, Valenzuela contends that *Abdallah, Kindall, Call*, and *Sifuentes* are correctly decided and the Court of Appeal opinion here is in error.

III.

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