In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

LUIS DONICIO VALENZUELA,

Defendant and Appellant.

Case No. S23912SUPREME COURT FILED

> JUN **6** 2017

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

Second Appellate District Division Six, Case No. B269027 Ventura County Superior Court, Case No. 2013025724 The Honorable Nancy Ayers, Judge



ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

Indeed, Rouse emphasized the narrowness of its holding—that when Proposition 47 requires the reduction of enumerated felony convictions to misdemeanors, but other non-enumerated felony counts remain, the court should conduct a plenary resentencing at which the defendant is entitled to counsel. (Rouse, supra, 245 Cal.App.4th at pp. 299-300.) But Rouse's reference to "tak[ing] the defendant back to the time of the original sentence and resentenc[ing] him with the Proposition 47 count now a misdemeanor" (Rouse, supra, 245 Cal.App.4th at p. 300), is not availing to Valenzuela. Rouse referred strictly to the reduction of enumerated counts, and its analysis was keyed to the time of the original sentencing; it did not implicate collateral effects on non-enumerated convictions, and did not envision taking the defendant back to the time when the crime was committed. Thus, Rouse does not imply that a Proposition 47 reduction can have the collateral consequences Valenzuela seeks here. Rather, it merely holds that when some counts are reduced, and others are not, a plenary resentencing should take place—or, more accurately, if the sentencing court chooses to undertake such a resentencing, the Sixth Amendment and Due Process provide a right to counsel.

Valenzuela's reliance on *People v. Park*, *supra*, 56 Cal.4th 782 and *People v. Flores* (1979) 92 Cal.App.3d 461 is also misplaced because he overlooks the legal significance of a crucial aspect of timing—whether the redesignation occurred before or after the crime was committed. (OBM 16-17.) Valenzuela argues that interpreting the phrase "for all purposes" in subdivision (k) to include the theft conduct at issue in section 186.22(a) comports with the voters' intent to apply the Act to all collateral consequences except firearm possession. (OBM 15-16, quoting *People v. Evans* (2016) 6 Cal.App.5th, review granted Feb. 22, 2017, S239635.) He

argues that his interpretation of section 1170.18(k) is consistent with this Court's interpretation of convictions reduced to misdemeanors under section 17, subdivision (b), as stated in *People v. Park*, *supra*, 56 Cal.4th at page 799 ["we conclude that when a wobbler has been reduced to a misdemeanor the prior conviction does not constitute a prior felony conviction within the meaning of section 667(a)"].)

In *Park*, the defendant's sentence for his current crimes was enhanced by five years under section 667, subdivision (a), based on his prior conviction of a serious felony. *Prior* to the defendant's commission of his current crimes, however, the trial court had reduced the prior offense to a misdemeanor under section 17, subdivision (b), and then dismissed it pursuant to section 1203.4, subdivision (a)(1). (*People v. Park, supra*, 56 Cal.4th at p. 787.) *Park* concluded that once the conviction had been reduced to a misdemeanor, it could no longer serve as the basis for the enhancement under section 667, subdivision (a). (*Id.* at pp. 787, 799.) This Court noted, however, that "there is no dispute that . . . defendant would be subject to the section 667(a) enhancement had he committed and been convicted of the present crimes *before* the court reduced the earlier offense to a misdemeanor." (*Id.* at p. 802.)

Park is distinguishable from the present case because the reduction of Valenzuela's grand theft conviction to a misdemeanor occurred after he was tried and sentenced on the substantive terrorist street gang offense. Indeed, under the logic of Park, because Valenzuela's conviction for grand theft was a felony when he was sentenced, the conviction properly served as the basis for the "felonious criminal conduct" element of the substantive terrorist street gang offense. Valenzuela engaged in felonious criminal conduct when he stole the \$200 bicycle from "the person" of the victim, and "[t]hat is true regardless of his [felony] conviction . . . and its

subsequent reduction to a misdemeanor." (Valenzuela, supra, 5 Cal.App.5th at p. 453.)

Valenzuela also argues that the phrase "for all purposes" in subdivision (k) is equivalent to the specific statutory restriction against the use of a past marijuana conviction in *People v. Flores*, *supra*, 92 Cal.App.3d 461. (OBM 17.) In *Flores*, the Legislature reduced the crime of marijuana possession, which served as the basis for the defendant's prior prison term enhancement, to a misdemeanor *before* the defendant committed, and was convicted of, the later offense that was the subject of appeal. (*People v. Flores*, *supra*, 92 Cal.App.3d at pp. 464, 470.) In *Flores*, as in *Park*, the current offense was committed *after* the earlier offense had already been reduced to a misdemeanor, in contrast with the present case. Here, as stated above, the grand theft conviction was still a felony when it was used as the basis for the "felonious criminal conduct" in the terrorist street gang offense. Thus, Valenzuela's reliance on *Flores* is no more availing than his reliance on *Park*.

As explained above, the sequence of events is critical to the analysis. When sentence was imposed in Valenzuela's case in 2014, the requirements of section 186.22(a) were met. The fact that his felony grand theft conviction has since been reduced to a misdemeanor does not alter the lawful imposition of his sentence in 2014 unless the voters, in passing Proposition 47, intended the reduction of his grand theft conviction to a misdemeanor to also operate to require striking the substantive gang offense. The voters could have signaled this intent by making subdivision (k) retroactive since that would necessarily call for application of subdivision (k)'s "misdemeanor for all purposes" language to past events. But, as explained, the voters had no such intention and expressed no desire that subdivision (k) operate retroactively. In short, subdivision (k) has prospective application only and has no application here.

II. SECTION 186.22 (A) REQUIRES "FELONIOUS CRIMINAL CONDUCT," NOT A FELONY CONVICTION; THEREFORE, THE REDUCTION OF THE UNDERLYING FELONY CONVICTION TO A MISDEMEANOR DOES NOT REQUIRE STRIKING THE STREET TERRORISM COUNT

Regardless of whether Proposition 47 could operate generally to undermine collateral, unenumerated offenses, street terrorism convictions like Valenzuela's are not affected by reduction of any predicate offense. Section 186.22(a) neither refers to nor uses the phrase "felony offense," nor requires a felony conviction. Rather, the statute focuses on "felonious criminal conduct." This focus does not change, regardless of whether the felony predicate conviction is subsequently redesignated as a misdemeanor. If the conduct occurred before Proposition 47 and was at that time felonious, then section 186.22(a)'s "felonious criminal conduct" requirement is met regardless of whether the predicate conviction is later reduced to a misdemeanor.

To support a charge of street terrorism, there must be a showing that the defendant "actively participates in any criminal street gang with knowledge that its members engage in or have engaged in a pattern of criminal gang activity, and who willfully promotes, furthers, or assists in any felonious criminal conduct by members of that gang." (§ 186.22(a), italics added.) Section 186.22(a) "is a substantive offense whose gravamen is the participation in the gang itself." (People v. Herrera (1999) 70 Cal.App.4th 1456, 1467, italics in original, disapproved on other grounds in People v. Mesa (2012) 54 Cal.4th 191, 199; see also People v. Albillar, supra, 51 Cal.4th at p. 55 ["The gravamen of the substantive offense set forth in section 186.22(a) is active participation in a criminal street gang" and does not require that the crime be "gang-related"].) The elements of the offense are evaluated at or reasonably near the time of the offense. (People v. Garcia (2007) 153 Cal.App.4th 1499, 1509.)

As this Court has held, section 186.22(a) "is not facially ambiguous" and when statutory language is not ambiguous, the plain meaning controls. (*People v. Albillar, supra*, 51 Cal.4th at p. 55.) One of the "plainly worded requirements" of section 186.22(a), is "willful promotion of a felony." (*People v. Castenada* (2000) 23 Cal.4th 743, 752.) Notably, this Court did not state in *Albillar* that a "felony conviction" is one of the requirements of the substantive crime of street terrorism. Rather, "[t]he plain language of the statute . . . targets felonious criminal conduct." (*Albillar, supra*, 51 Cal.4th at p. 55; see also *Albillar, supra*, at p. 56 [construing section 186.22(a) to require "*any* felonious criminal conduct by gang members"]; accord, *People v. Rodriguez* (2012) 55 Cal.4th 1125, 1131 [section 186.22(a) plainly and unambiguously "targets *any* felonious criminal conduct"].)

This Court further observed in *Albillar* that "[t]he Legislature clearly knew how to draft language limiting the nature of the *criminal conduct* promoted, furthered, or assisted and could have included such language had it desired to so limit the reach of section 186.22(a). Indeed, the Legislature did exactly that in the subdivision immediately following—i.e., section 186.22(b)(1), which provides for an enhanced sentence for 'any person who is convicted of a felony committed for the benefit of, at the direction of, or in association with any criminal street gang, with the specific intent to promote, further, or assist in any criminal conduct by gang members" (Albillar, supra, at p. 56, italics added.) ""[W]hen different words are used in contemporaneously enacted, adjoining subdivisions of a statute, the inference is compelling that a difference in meaning was intended."" (*Ibid.*, quoting *Kleffman v. Vonage Holdings Corp.* (2010) 49 Cal.4th 334. 343.) Thus, had the Legislature intended to limit section 186.22(a) to felony convictions, as opposed to felonious criminal conduct, it would have done so.

Instead, nowhere does section 186.22(a) require that the defendant be convicted of a felony. Rather, he or she must promote, further or assist gang members in committing felonious criminal conduct. (People v. Burnell (2005) 132 Cal.App.4th 938, 944-945 ["furthering any felonious criminal conduct will do"].) Indeed, it has been well-established that section 186.22(a) "reflects the Legislature's carefully structured endeavor to punish active participants for commission of criminal acts done collectively with gang members." (People v. Rodriguez, supra, 55 Cal.4th at p. 1139, italics added.) And since Proposition 47 operates only to reduce a conviction to a misdemeanor, it does not have the time-traveling effect of transforming conduct that was felonious at the time into something else. Valenzuela's proposed construction of section 186.22(a) would effectively negate the requirement of a criminal act or conduct and replace it with a requirement found nowhere in the statute: the requirement of a felony conviction.

Valenzuela argues that "[t]he opinion's reliance on the distinction between felonious conduct and a felony conviction with respect to the necessary elements for a section 186.22(a) conviction is a *distinction without meaning*." (OBM 4, italics added.) To the contrary, there is an obvious distinction between "conduct" and "conviction": the term "conduct" refers to "active and passive behavior" (Evid. Code, § 125) while the term "conviction" refers to a verdict, guilty plea, or pronouncement of judgment (*People v. Park, supra*, 56 Cal.4th at p. 799). Moreover, his argument ignores the basic rules of statutory construction set forth above, that where the language of a statute is not ambiguous, the plain meaning controls; and the plain language of section 186.22(a) targets "felonious conduct," not a "felony conviction." (*Albillar, supra*, 51 Cal.4th at pp. 55-56.)

Valenzuela also contends that CALCRIM No. 1400, element 3, provides that the People must prove that the defendant engaged in "felonious criminal conduct" by "committing a felony offense," and that "the Fifth Amendment's due process clause requires proof beyond a reasonable doubt of each element of a substantive offense." (OBM 4.)⁷ But an instruction is not a statute; the statute is what controls as a matter of law. (See *People v. Brown* (2004) 33 Cal.4th 382, 391.) And in any event,

To prove that the defendant is guilty of this crime, the People must prove that:

- 1. The defendant actively participated in a criminal street gang;
- 2. When the defendant participated in the gang, (he/she) knew that members of the gang engage in or have engaged in a pattern of criminal gang activity;

AND

- 3. The defendant willfully assisted, furthered, or promoted felonious criminal conduct by members of the gang either by:
 - a. directly and actively committing a felony offense;

OR

b. aiding and abetting a felony offense

* * *

Felonious criminal conduct	means committing or
attempting to commit [any of] the	e following crime[s]:
<insert feld<="" th=""><th>ony or felonies by gang</th></insert>	ony or felonies by gang
members that the defendant is all assisted, promoted or directly cor	•
[To decide whether a memb	er of the gang [or the
defendant] committed	<insert felony="" or<="" td=""></insert>
felonies listed immediately above	>, please refer to the separate
instructions that I (will give/have	given) you on (that/those)
crime[s].]	

⁷ CALCRIM No. 1400, Active Participation in Criminal Street Gang, provides in part:

CALCRIM No. 1400 does not call upon the jury to find that the defendant sustained a particular "felony conviction," but only that he engaged in *conduct* that amounted to a "felony offense." Valenzuela's due process argument fails because on July 14, 2013, when he stole Ramirez's bicycle, the conduct was felonious, and the jury was properly so instructed. Valenzuela does not attempt to show constitutionally insufficient evidence of grand theft as to the conviction. Instead, his argument improperly assumes that the Act retrospectively made the underlying conduct into something less than a felony.

Valenzuela further argues that "this Court has always held that the third element in section 186.22(a) is satisfied only by the finding beyond a reasonable doubt that a defendant committed a felony offense." (OBM 4-5, citing People v. Rodriguez, supra, 55 Cal.4th at page 1138.) Valenzuela misreads Rodriguez. The issue in Rodriguez was whether a gang member violates section 186.22(a) if he commits a felony, but acts alone. (Rodriguez, supra, 55 Cal.4th at p. 1128.) This Court observed that the statute "has been the object of much appellate parsing" and "[a]s a result, certain words and phrases in the third element of section 186.22(a) have already been judicially construed[,]" including the phrase, "any felonious criminal conduct." (Id. at p. 1131, citing Albillar, supra, 51 Cal.4th at p. 51.) "The plain unambiguous language of the statute targets any felonious conduct, not felonious gang-related conduct." (Ibid., citing Albillar, supra, at p. 55, see also p. 1137 [section 186.22(a) requires "promotion or furtherance of specific conduct of gang members"].) In addressing whether section 186.22(a) applies to a lone gang member, this Court stated, "the Legislature sought to punish gang members who acted in concert with other gang members in committing a felony regardless of whether such felony was gang related." (Id. at p. 1138.) Rodriguez supports respondent's argument that section 186.22(a) requires only felonious "conduct."

Rodriguez had no occasion to consider whether a felony conviction was required to be found beyond a reasonable doubt.

Valenzuela also relies on *People v. Lamas*, *supra*, 42 Cal.4th 516, to argue that, assuming the commission of a felony offense is distinguishable from a felony conviction, the reclassified misdemeanor theft conviction still does not qualify as felonious criminal conduct. (OBM 6.) In *Lamas*, this Court "consider[ed] the interplay" between section 186.22(a) and section 12031, subdivision (a)(2)(C), which elevates the misdemeanor offense of carrying a loaded firearm in public to a felony if committed by "an active participant in a criminal street gang as defined in section 186.22[](a)," and specified the sequence in which those provisions were to be applied. (*Lamas*, *supra*, 42 Cal.4th at pp. 519-520.) *Lamas* held that "misdemeanor conduct—being a gang member who carries a loaded firearm in public—cannot satisfy section 186.22(a)'s third element, felonious conduct . . . ," and thus cannot "be used to elevate the otherwise misdemeanor offense to a felony." (*Ibid.*)

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